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Tuesday, March 17, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today on an application brought by Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc. for electricity distribution rates.  This application has been assigned Board file number EB-2014-0096.

The record in this matter sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place in this application. We understand that the parties have reached a partial settlement.  We have reviewed as a settlement proposal and we do have some questions for the parties in respect of it.

We also understand that there are two issues that remain unsettled.  We will hear oral testimony on those two areas of the evidence.

My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding today.  Along with me is my colleague, Allison Duff.

May I have appearances, please.


Appearances:


MR. STOLL:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Scott Stoll, counsel for the applicant, Niagara Peninsula.  With me I have Ms. Wilson and Mr. Blythin, who will be the witnesses later on when we get there, and behind me is Mr. Wilkie, president and CEO of Niagara Peninsula.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Stoll.  Good morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, good morning.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, good morning.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Member Duff.  Randy Aiken for Energy Probe Research Foundation.  With me is David MacIntosh.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Aiken.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Member Duff.  My name is Maureen Helt.  I am counsel with the Board, and with me I have Richard Battista, who is the case manager.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.
Preliminary Matters:


Before we begin are there any preliminary matters that we need to deal with?  Mr. Stoll, you first?

MR. STOLL:  I don't have any real matters.  There is one thing.  There was a confidential undertaking --


MS. LONG:  I am going to ask Ms. Helt to deal with that, but I just wondered if there was anything --


MR. STOLL:  Nothing else, other --


MS. LONG:  -- else that you need to deal with?

MR. STOLL:  -- than that, no.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  There was a confidential undertaking, JXT1.16, that was filed in response to a question raised at the technical conference.  The Panel has not yet determined whether or not that document will be granted confidential status.  I don't believe any party has any submissions with respect to that, but you may just wish to canvass the parties in that regard.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Do any parties have submissions on that?

MR. AIKEN:  Madam Chair, I don't have any submissions on it, but I will be touching on that undertaking response in my cross-examination without mentioning any of the numbers or the utilities mentioned in it.

MS. LONG:  So you will not need to go in camera to deal with this?

MR. AIKEN:  No.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  The panel has reviewed the answer to the undertaking, and we are prepared to give it confidential status.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is the only preliminary matter.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then Mr. Stoll, we will ask you to take a look at the settlement agreement and provide us with a high-level overview, and then we will ask you our questions.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I guess there is a couple issues I will deal with first regarding the comments from Board Staff.  And there was a note on an inconsistency in the wording regarding the missed meters and the variance account, and the inconsistency is between the body of the document and the draft order that was sought, and we would just like to confirm, the wording in the order is correct regarding the request, which is "this account shall be used to record the variance in costs above or below $43,760, which is the amount included in the 2015 test year".

So that is the one item, so that is the correct wording.  It is above or below, it is not just incremental, as the body of the document indicated.

The other two comments from Board Staff dealt with the two -- what are in the amount, are below the materiality threshold for Niagara Peninsula, and they deal with two of the variance accounts.  One is regarding a difference relating to about $27,000, $28,000 a year, and it results from a difference between accrual accounting and the cash accounting method, and Board Staff laid out that basis.

And we don't have many other comments other than to say basically accrual accounting is what NPEI uses.  It is basically the practice for the rate applications, and given the amount and that this was basically included in the settlement agreement, we agree with Board Staff that really there should be no change or no further action.

If the Board wanted to provide further direction in respect of this type of account, we would welcome that in the future, and we would abide by the Board's direction.

And I think with the other account, we -- again, the amounts were not material, so again, we are of the view that as part of the settlement agreement and the fact that it is an immaterial amount, we should just continue on with the settlement agreement as proposed.

I suppose we could have an interesting discussion around the rules of accounting and whether that amount is in or out or should be in or out, but I don't think it is really productive in this circumstance.

I think the Board has been pretty clear regarding the precedent value of settlement agreements.  Basically settlement agreements are settlements and involve trade-offs between parties, and the Board has been pretty consistent in saying that there is no precedential value of relying on a settlement agreement to establish certain principles, given the bargains that are struck.

So those are my comments in regard to what Board Staff had raised in their submissions.

Now, turning to the settlement agreement itself, I think where we can start is basically looking at the settlement resulted in a zero deficiency or sufficiency, however you want to look at it, and primarily -- and that's based on the way the issues are presented, and it may change if we -- depending on your determination of the unsettled issues.

So that was kind of where we got to at the end of the day.  It was basically a zero deficiency.  And in respect of a couple comments on the capital side of things, the Niagara Peninsula basically provided a capital program distribution system plan that it was comfortable it could meet.  It also has seen an improvement in the losses that are incorporated in the rates, and it expects to be able to manage its capital programs within the settlement agreement over the IRM period.

There was one -- or a couple of adjustments throughout the application process.  One was to incorporate the results of 2014.  There were a couple projects that were carried over into 2015.  So those dollar amounts are reflected in the settlement agreement.

There was also the removal of one significant project, which was the Niagara Parks Commission program -- or project.  And the settlement agreement basically talks about it not being sufficiently certain that project would occur in the test year.

And by way of background, that project -- or Niagara Parks Commission operates several facilities within the Niagara Parks, and the -- and Niagara Peninsula's service territory is around it and provides service to it.  The Parks Commission has indicated that they would like to sell some of their assets to Niagara Peninsula Energy.  They are still in their process of due diligence, and that's where the transaction, if it occurs to stand -- stands right now, we have not exchanged purchase agreements or anything.  It hasn't progressed to that stage yet.

But basically the Parks Commission is into a situation where they would like Niagara Peninsula to take over certain of these assets, mainly because of their ability to operate and maintain, and also the way they want to manage their internal vendors.

So we would expect, if the transaction does occur, that there would be a slight increase in certain customers.  We don't know.  Again, it would depend on what happens through the customers and what Niagara Parks wants to do at that point.

So we removed the project from the test year, and in that -- in the settlement, we also mentioned that we would not be bringing it forward as an ICM.  And it's not just the Parks Commission, but it goes beyond some related spending or potential spending around that.  And I will explain that.

Basically from our point of view, the Niagara Parks Commission is a known project with potential, so it wouldn't be a candidate for an ICM.  Partly because you wouldn't pass the foreseeability element of an ICM application.

However, I understand that the Parks Commission would basically –- if we acquired those assets my client would have the ability to use the commission's lands, basically access, to provide reinforcement or looping within its distribution system, which it would expend significant money to try and accomplish the same technical result now.  So what we wanted to do was ensure that there is no related spending -- like for reinforcement or upgrades -- that would be incorporated into an ICM application.

Again, this partly goes to foreseeability, but basically putting a fence around the project in its entirety and ensuring that it won't come forward as an ICM within the IRM period.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stoll, you have jumped ahead to a question that I have, so I am going to ask it at this point.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Sure.

MS. LONG:  If, in fact, this project won't meet the foreseeability threshold, then what is the harm in having it in the settlement?  Why does it have to be addressed in the settlement agreement?  The Board has set up the ICM mechanism such that we will examine, at the time an application is made, whether an application qualifies, so isn't it up to the Board to make that determination?  Why do I see that being dealt with in a settlement agreement?

MR. STOLL:  Well, I think it would be whether the application would even come before the Board.  And the agreement among the parties is that NPEI would not be making such an application.  So it basically pre-empts having to have a debate with the Board about foreseeability and whether the ICM application would ever come forward.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  What about Z factor?  I don't understand why Z factor is in there either.  If NPEI were to purchase these assets, let's say, and three years from now there was an act of God or something like that, that Z factor could be available to NPEI, why would that be carved out in the settlement agreement?  I don't understand that.

I am looking at -- let me refer you to what I am talking about.  I am looking to section 5.1 of the settlement agreement, page 35 of 37.  And I am looking at the last sentence before the chart that says:

"NPEI agrees that it will not apply for an ICM or a Z factor during its IRM term that seeks to recover from ratepayers directly or indirectly any costs of or related to the acquisition, enhancement, refurbishment, replacement, maintenance or operation of the NPC assets."

I am going to hear from Mr. Stoll first, and then I will hear from the intervenors as to why this needs to be in there.  It seems pretty clear to me that there is a test for Z factor, and if Niagara Peninsula meets it, the Z factor is set up for situations that occur where a utility has to come and seek relief.  And the Board makes a determination as to whether or not it qualifies, and intervenors are able to participate and give their opinion as to whether or not they qualify.

So I am a bit perplexed as to why that is in a settlement agreement.

MR. STOLL:  And I think from -- this is part of the -- I don't want to get into the details of the negotiation or the comments that were made, but I think at the end of the day we wanted to provide an assurance that we wouldn't somehow try and -- or NPEI wouldn't somehow try and go around the spirit of not doing the project or spending money around that project or those future assets, and somehow come back and seek further relief later on.

And I think that is, from our perspective, why it was in there and -- to capture the spirit of that type of commitment that NPEI was making.  If there was some true act of God, I think it -- I am not sure the wording is broad enough to cover a true act of God, as you had put to us, but --


MS. LONG:  I guess I look at replacement, I look at maintenance, I look at operation, and I wonder if that is covering a Z factor.  I can see the argument that you are making with respect to purchase; obviously the parties have talked about that and that should be carved out, but in the event you actually do acquire -- your client acquires these assets and then needs relief --


MR. STOLL:  I think, if I can maybe just add one other thing, I think the assets that would be acquired would be basically the primary system.  And there would be some work to complete the customer additions and potentially work to complete the looping.  So I think that leads to a little bit of whether it is a -- and some of the equipment, whether it is going to be replaced or refurbished now or in five or six years.  I think -- so I think that is kind of the intent where my client was coming from, that for those type of activities that would be either typical or normal and not the result of a true act of God, that we won't be coming back before the Board during the IRM period and seeking additional relief in respect of that related work.

So I will let my friends...

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, do you want to start?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The evidence is that this transaction when it comes about will be either neutral to the rest of the ratepayers or even positive for the rest of the ratepayers because of the system benefits.

The risk seen by the ratepayers was that Niagara Parks Commission had assets that were falling apart and didn't want to spend the money on them and said:  Well, why don't you guys take these over and then the ratepayers can eat all these additional costs and we won't have to?

And we were concerned about that risk, and the deal in the agreement is an allocation of risk.  The company is convinced that it will be positive and the ratepayers are simply covering off their downside, as opposed to having it dealt with in a hearing today, because it is in the application today.  So the prudence of acquiring these assets could be dealt with today.

And because there is some doubt as to whether it would be closed this year, it made sense to say:  Okay, let's put that off and deal with it later, but cover off our downside risk if you are going to do that.  Otherwise, we would like to deal with it now.  It is in your application; let's go deal with it.

And that was a fair balancing of the interests, when you consider that the ratepayers are worried about a downside and the utility is convinced that it is actually an upside, or neutral at worst.  And so it was a good balance to come to.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Aiken, do you have any comments?

MR. AIKEN:  No.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan?
Submissions by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, I am just mulling over in my mind how a Z factor can apply to a project or a program that is acquired after a settlement or an order has been reached.  Ordinarily a Z factor also has some kind of -- some measure of foreseeability or some aspect that the company had prudently prepared for any contingency associated with increased costs that the Z factor would encompass, and that in the situation where they had done so and still incurred the cost, then a Z factor would apply.  That is the traditional situation.

Here we have effectively an agreement that says this is out, and in fact their -- this is on the risk of the shareholders.  It is difficult to contemplate how a Z factor could apply in that particular circumstance where you have already severed off the connection between the ordinary standard of prudence that the utility must exert towards their programs and projects and made it entirely the risk of the shareholders.

It may well be that it may -- it may be the subject of another kind of an application like an ICM, but in my respectful submission, the foreseeability associated with the Z factor is much stronger than the foreseeability associated with the ICM.

MS. DUFF:  I think the scenario that we were referring to was, assuming that the transfer of ownership takes place, then there is an act of God.  I mean, this Board has just seen seven Z factor applications associated with the ice storm that we have just dealt with in the December of 2013, so southern Ontario issues with weather, something happens to these assets after the transfer has already taken place.

So I think that is a slight scenario that --


MR. JANIGAN:  But the problem here is that the transaction takes place after the application has been approved and the order issued.  It is something that occurs afterwards and cannot be -- I don't think you can roll back the clock and say, okay, here we contemplated a transfer of these assets and we -- in this application, and we believe that we were sufficiently prepared; therefore, when we acquired them and something happened, then the Z factor should apply.  I think there is a full stop when it is excluded like this.  It has to be in --


MS. LONG:  Are you saying, Mr. Janigan, that they acquire these assets and let's say in 2018 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  -- the scenario that Member Duff talks about occurs, there is this large storm, storm damage, that that is just -- there is no relief for them because they have taken the risk of anything that may happen to these assets?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well --


MS. LONG:  It is at the shareholders' risk?

MR. JANIGAN:  I think in the circumstances where they have moved ahead and acquired it without necessarily Board approval or without incorporating it into an application associated with rates, I think it is their risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wonder if we could have a short recess to discuss this?

MS. LONG:  Well, I was going to suggest that maybe we move on and you can talk about this maybe at the morning break; is that fine?  We will -- but you can see that this is an area of interest to us, and I am hoping that the parties can maybe have a discussion as to what they actually intend here, and we will come back --


MR. STOLL:  Why don't we do it after the break, then.

MS. LONG:  After the break?  So can you finish with the rest of the settlement agreement, and maybe there will be more issues to discuss at that time.
Continued Presentation by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  On -- okay, I will just make a couple other comments.  The settlement agreement basically incorporates the Board-approved capital structure.  The capital costs are quite efficient, as far as we are concerned.  The long-term debt is at roughly 3.9 percent, which we feel is quite good for a -- especially for a utility of our size.  The short-term debt and the ROE are at the Board's approved rates.

With respect to the expense side of the ledger or the OM&A, basically what the agreement captures is a pretty flat spending from -- so what we are anticipating, if we looked at the total operating expenses, we feel those expenses are adequate to meet the utility's needs over the IRM period and that they reflect some of the changes that have occurred.  One of the issues that the utility has recently gone through is the -- no longer doing the water billing for the City of Niagara Falls.  So there are some changes that will eventually flow out from that change, and it reflects the operating maintenance programs that we anticipate going forward again to maintain and operate the system.

We do have an outage management system and other programs that we feel are prudent for a utility of this size.  At this point, I don't really have much more to say on operating and maintenance.  I don't know if the panel has questions they would like to specifically address on this side of the ledger.

MS. LONG:  No, that's fine.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And then with respect to the rate design cost allocation, we are able to come to an agreement with everybody except on the rate design for the one class which we will be discussing a little bit later today, and with respect to the deferral and variance accounts, you heard our earlier comments on Board Staff.

I think probably the one, maybe the out-of-the-ordinary issue, or I guess there is two little issues or two issues we will talk about, one being the transition costs in 1576, which basically sees a repayment of 6.9 million to ratepayers over two years, so is that is a change of about -- or payment of about 3.45 million a year to ratepayers.

MS. DUFF:  I did have a question on that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Just from a --


MS. LONG:  Yeah, I think maybe we should swear the witnesses, and this --


MR. STOLL:  Do we want to just --


MS. LONG:  At this point, because it may be a question of clarification that we will need the witnesses to speak to, so --


MR. STOLL:  If you want evidence rather than submissions, I am happy to conclude.

MS. LONG:  Do you have much more?

MR. STOLL:  I don't, actually.  I was really --


MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  -- looking to answer questions --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Good.

MR. STOLL:  -- at this point.

MS. LONG:  Then maybe if you have finished with your overview, I think that is what we need, and we will affirm the witnesses, and then Member Duff does have a question in respect of what you have just spoken to.

So perhaps, Mr. Stoll, you could just introduce the witnesses, and then we will have them affirmed.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I will start with Ms. Wilson.  Can you give your name and your position?

MS. WILSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Member Duff, my name is Suzanne Wilson, and I am the vice-president of finance at Niagara Peninsula Energy.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Mr. Blythin?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Member Duff.  My name is Paul Blythin, and I am the regulatory affairs and accounting manager at Niagara Peninsula Energy.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So I would ask that the witnesses be affirmed.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  They can remain seated.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.
NIAGARA PENINSULA ENERGY INC. - PANEL 1
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Suzanne Wilson, Affirmed


Paul Blythin, Affirmed.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Member Duff.  Did you want me to do chief first, or did you want to ask your question?

MS. LONG:  Well, let's ask the question first --


MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  -- let's deal with the settlement proposal.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.

MS. DUFF:  I appreciate the -- allowing me to go forward.
Questions by the Board:


Just regarding account 1576, the agreement over the 24-month period, just looking at the settlement agreement, page 34, the table there, so the dollar amount involved is the $6.9 million, and on page 33 the parties have agreed to repay this amount to customers over a 24-month period.

Just given, you know, the materiality threshold for the company, I just wanted to get an assurance that that wasn't going to cause any, like, cash flow or financial problems for the company.

MS. WILSON:  No, because we have on the offsetting side the million-two for the stranded meters.  And that is going to go over 24 months too, so the net impact is about 2.6 million, which we have been doing through the PILs and the deferral and variance over the last couple of years and we think we can manage that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So the coupling and the timing of the rate riders was a consideration that you think is going to be a benefit for the utility and its customers?

MS. WILSON:  Sorry, could you --


MS. DUFF:  You're matching the time periods for the rate riders that are coming off with the credits to be paid to customers, the timing and the alignment of that?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct, so that there isn't this hill and valley for the customer's bill.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stoll, I am just wondering, now that we have finished the settlement agreement I wonder if it would make more sense for the parties to have a break now so they can discuss the issue with the settlement agreement, while it is fresh in everyone's mind as to what Panel's concerns are with respect to 5.1.  So I am going to suggest that we break until 10:25 so the parties can have a discussion.  And then we will come back and you can report on any updates and then we will move into your chief.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:07 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:29 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

We did have a brief discussion, and I am going to try and capture it fairly succinctly here.  The concept is that the preclusion from a Z factor ICM application basically would relate to having acquired assets of the condition that they are in, and is not intended to be a complete bar of an act of God that would wipe out every asset.

So if the expenditure is related to the fact that we bought a 30-year old asset and we didn't check or verify the condition of that asset, or it was -- we did, and it turns out that that condition was worse than thought, that is not something that the ratepayers are going to be on the hook for through an ICM application or a Z factor.

If, however, a tornado comes through and damaged everything and it would happen regardless of the condition of the asset, then there would be the ability to come back at that time.  So we were looking at it more as an intervening act as the causation, being the storm or the act of God.

MS. LONG:  Does everyone agree with that characterization by Mr. Stoll?  Because I think that he has articulated what the Panel's concern is.  So have the parties thought about how they are going to articulate that in the settlement agreement?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I had thought that we had expressed this interpretation as to how we understood it, and that that might be enough, but if the Board would wish us to revise it, to express it in words, we can do that as well.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you can take some time at the lunch break and see if that is workable or if you need more time.  I mean, I think we are all on the same page as to, that meets the Panel's approval on that section.  I do, however -- I would prefer it to be in the settlement agreement.  As you know, settlement agreements show up from time to time and people don't go back and check the transcript, so if it was all in the same place that would be helpful.

So with that, we will move on to your direct.  I understand, Mr. Stoll, you have a little bit of direct --


MR. STOLL:  Yes, it will be very, very quick.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  Panel, I just have a couple questions on each of the issues.  And before I get into those, I will just do a very brief -- can you provide a very brief overview of your position and how long you have been with the company?

MS. WILSON:  Madam Chair, Member Duff, I am the VP of finance.  I have been with the company for just over 12 years.  Prior to that I was the director of finance for Casino Niagara.  I opened the casino, and I left before the new one was opening.  And I have been very involved in this rate application from start to finish.

MR. STOLL:  Mr. Blythin?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Madam Chair, Member Duff, I have been with NPEI since 2009, and prior to that I worked at another utility for two years.

MR. STOLL:  And Ms. Wilson, you jumped ahead on me.  Can you just confirm that you were involved in the preparation of the evidence on the issues that are before the Board today?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, I confirm.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Mr. Blythin, could you do the same thing?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Yes, I confirm that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have any changes or additions or corrections to the evidence -- or the record to date on those issues?

MS. WILSON:  Do you want me to address the date issue on the one memo?

MR. STOLL:  If you want you can do it here.

MS. WILSON:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  If you can tell the panel and the intervenors where you are going, and then...

MS. WILSON:  In Energy Probe's cross-examination compendium, just for clarification, on page 13 of 18 the title reads "NPEI cost and benefits for monthly billing 2010".  In Appendix F, on page 15 of 18, the date on the memo is February 11th, 2011.  That Word document has an autodate feature, so when you open it it will change the date of the original memo.

So the original memo was actually written prior to us going to monthly billing, but I don't have the actual date, because every time you open it on the computer it is now going to say March 17th, 2015.  So the memo was written prior to us going to monthly billing.

MR. STOLL:  So when did NPEI make the switch to monthly billing?

MS. WILSON:  May 1st, 2010.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. WILSON:  That is all my corrections, clarifications.

MR. STOLL:  Can you, with respect to working capital, can you just summarize the request by NPEI in this application?

MS. WILSON:  NPEI has applied for a 13 percent working capital allowance, and in preparing the rate application we followed the Ontario Energy Board's filing requirements for electricity distribution rate applications that was last revised on July 18th, 2014.

And in accordance with section 2.5.1.3, the applicant may take one of two approaches for the calculation of its allowance for working capital, one being the 13 percent allowance approach or, two, filing of a lead-lag study.

NPEI was not directed in its previous application to do a lead-lag study, so we followed the 13 percent working capital allowance.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right.  And we will just switch to the other issue on rate design.  And can you just explain the request that's before the Board as part of the application?

MR. BLYTHIN:  So as part of our application we have asked for the residential-class rate design fixed-variable component of a 65 percent fixed charge, 35 percent variable charge.

MR. STOLL:  And is that different than the current fixed-variable split?

MR. BLYTHIN:  It is different than the current fixed-variable split.  In implementing this request we followed the filing requirements, section 2.11.2, which states:

"On April 3rd, 2014 the Board released its draft report on rate design for electricity distributors which proposed implementing a fixed monthly charge for distribution service.  While the policy consultation is still ongoing, distributors can propose a fixed monthly charge with their applications based on the proposed policy options as applicable for the Board's consideration.  In proposing a fixed monthly service charge to recover distribution service costs, the distributor must provide an explanation of the method used to design the fixed charge."

So in our original evidence we stated that, given what this says in the filing requirements, NPEI did not propose any of the specific examples in the draft report, but we are proposing to move towards a greater proponent of fixed monthly charge, given that the Board is looking at this issue and given the explicit statement in the filing requirements that a distributor may propose something in their applications.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. WILSON:  If I could just add to that, the historical fixed-variable splits prior to the merger which occurred on January 1st, 2008, the former Niagara Falls Hydro residential customers had a two-thirds fixed/one-third variable.  The former Peninsula West Utilities residential rate class had a one-third fixed/two-thirds variable.

In the 2011 cost-of-service rate application we harmonized those rates for the rate classes, but we did not design the rate design issue at that time.

Looking at where we are today, we are addressing that issue to go back to where we were prior to the merger for all of our harmonized rate customers.  And as we presented in our evidence, it would benefit 65 percent of our customers.

MR. STOLL:  Madam Chair, that's my examination-in-chief.  I turn the witnesses over for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, perhaps at this time we can mark the CVs of the witness panel as exhibits.

We will mark as Exhibit K1.1 the curriculum vitae of Suzanne Wilson, and Exhibit K1.2 will be the curriculum vitae of Paul Blythin.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CV OF SUZANNE WILSON.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CV OF PAUL BLYTHIN.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Ms. Helt, do we have an order worked out for cross-examination this morning?

MS. HELT:  It is my understanding that Mr. Aiken is going to go first, followed by Mr. Janigan and then Mr. Shepherd.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, can we get another copy of your compendium?  Do you have an extra copy there?

MR. AIKEN:  I do.

MS. LONG:  Perhaps while we are doing that, we can mark that as well.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  The compendium of Energy Probe Research Foundation will be marked as Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken, you are free to proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, panel.  I am going to go through the two issues that are unsettled, starting first with the monthly fixed charge issue.

Would you agree that under the Renewed Regulatory Framework there is more emphasis on customer engagement and outcomes than there has been previously?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And as part of your customer engagement, you undertook a customer survey; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And am I correct that in general, in most if not all surveys of electricity customers, including yours, customers expressed their major concerns being costs, reliability and the need for CDM programs to help them reduce their consumption and their overall bills?

MS. WILSON:  I believe in our survey it was price and reliability.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if you could go to pages 1 and 2 of the compendium, I have included here pages 29 and 30 of the proposed settlement agreement.

Now, on the first of these pages there are four tables.  And they basically all have the same numbers, but am I correct that the majority of your residential customers are on time-of-use pricing that is shown in the first two tables?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And these tables show three different scenarios with respect to the fixed/variable split; is that correct?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So just to confirm, columns 2 and 3 show the impact of the fixed/variable split as maintained, columns 4 and 5 show it under your proposal with the 65/35 split, and columns 6 and 7 is the scenario where it is 100 percent fixed?

MR. BLYTHIN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, I don't think this is in the settlement proposal anywhere, but if it is maybe you can point it out to me.  What I am looking for is the actual rates that underlie the figures on page 1.

So if you go to page 28 in the settlement agreement -- and I am sorry I missed putting this in the compendium.  It is actually in the VECC compendium, if you have that handy; it is on page 18 of the VECC compendium.

MS. HELT:  Does the Panel have the VECC compendium?

MS. LONG:  We do.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  This is the two tables that show the fixed/variable revenue split.

And in these two tables I see the existing rates in the first table and I see your proposed rates in the second table.

My question is:  What are the proposed -- sorry, what are the rates that would result based on maintaining the existing fixed/variable split?  Because I don't think they are in the agreement any place.

MS. WILSON:  The fixed monthly service charge rate for the residential class would be $18.43, at a 58.05 percent fixed, 41.95 percent variable.

The updated variable rate for the residential rate class would be 0.0185 per kWh.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, does this table on page 1 include any other impacts other than the changes to the fixed and variable charges?  In other words, do they have all the same cost of power, the same rate riders across the three different versions?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Yes.  Everything else is the same.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Good.  So based on this comparison it appears that customers using 500 kilowatt-hours per month or less would be worse off under your proposal relative to the existing fixed/variable split; do you agree with that statement?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And if you go to page 4 of the compendium -- this is the response to 8 VECC 49 -- would you agree that a little over one-third of your residential customers consume less than 500 kilowatt-hours per month?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then back on page 1, your analysis shows that the residential customers that consume 800 kilowatt-hours or more per month, the increase is less under your proposal than it would be if you maintained the current fixed/variable split; correct?

MR. BLYTHIN:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And those are the shaded areas in that table.

MR. BLYTHIN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And if you look back on page 4 again, a little over 30 percent of your customers consume 800 or more kilowatt-hours per month?

MR. BLYTHIN:  That's correct.  And the other third is in that 500 to 800 range.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and that is what I am moving on to next.  At the top of page 2 of the compendium, it states that the residential customers with an average monthly consumption greater than 500 kilowatt-hours, your proposed 65/35 fixed/variable split results in a lower total bill increase than maintaining the existing fixed/variable split.

That statement is not actually true, though, is it?

MS. WILSON:  No, it would be between 500 and 800.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you know what the crossover point is?

MS. WILSON:  Actually, we didn't calculate that.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to calculate what that crossover point is?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.  And just to be clear, Mr. Aiken, that is to indicate the kilowatt-hours where the fixed/variable split results in a lower total bill increase than maintaining the existing fixed/variable split; is that correct?

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO INDICATE THE KILOWATT-HOURS WHERE THE FIXED/VARIABLE SPLIT RESULTS IN A LOWER TOTAL BILL INCREASE THAN MAINTAINING THE EXISTING FIXED/VARIABLE SPLIT.

MR. AIKEN:  I want to step back for a moment and talk about customer engagement.

Did you ask your residential customers for their views on the fixed/variable split?

MS. WILSON:  I don't believe that was a question in the survey.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then my follow-up question is:  Why wouldn't you ask something that obviously impacts customers?

MS. WILSON:  The survey was done, I believe, in May or June, very early on of us starting this process.  The fixed/variable rate design, actually we didn't tackle that until probably August.  So in hindsight it would be a great question to ask in a customer survey now, and that was our first survey.

MR. AIKEN:  What do you think a typical residential customer would say if you showed him or her the table on page 1 and asked them what their thoughts were on the options?

MS. WILSON:  I can't answer that.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, when you look at the table -- and there are two comparisons that this kind of jumped out at me when I looked at this -- the first one is if you compare a customer using 500 kilowatt-hours with a customer using 1,500, under the existing fixed-variable split you see the increase of $4.75, and $9.33.  That's in the second column. And then under your proposal those numbers are $5.40, and I believe that is $6.84 -- I hate the small print, by the way.

And so in that case -- sorry, and then you go on to the extreme case, which is the 100 percent fixed, which I understand you are not proposing.  But in that case the 500 kilowatt-hour customer sees an $8.87 increase and the 1,500 kilowatt-hour customer actually sees a $5-and-change decrease in rates.

And just stopping there, doesn't that strike you as a little odd and a little perverse?  The more you use the less your rates go up?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And am I correct that under -- okay, I will -- that's fine.

So what would your response be to a customer that, having been fully informed on these scenarios and your proposals, when that customer comes to you and says, Why should I reduce my consumption?  I am going to get a bigger bill increase?


MR. BLYTHIN:  Okay.  They can still save on the cost of power with -- reducing on consumption.  Obviously this is just the distribution charges.

MR. AIKEN:  So when you say here "total bill", that does not include the cost of power.

MS. WILSON:  No.

MR. BLYTHIN:  I am sorry, this total bill does include the cost of power.

MS. WILSON:  Yes, it does.

MR. BLYTHIN:  But the fixed-variable split that we are proposing doesn't impact what they pay for power.

MR. AIKEN:  That's right, but -- okay, so let's take another comparison.  A customer using 800 kilowatt-hours maintaining the current fixed-variable split would see a $6.12 increase, whereas under your proposal that same $6.12 increase would be for a customer consuming 1,000 kilowatt-hours, so again, that customer comes to you and says, I can consume 25 percent more and have the same impact on my rates.  Why should I consume less?


MR. BLYTHIN:  Regardless of which rates are implemented, once the rates are implemented there is still the opportunity for them to have a lower bill by implementing further consumption.

MR. AIKEN:  And then in the future their rates will go up more, because that is what your proposal does.

MR. BLYTHIN:  I am unsure about that.  Once the split is implemented and the rate is set, I don't know -- I don't understand in the future how it would go up more.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, in the future if your revenue requirement goes up there is going to be more of a bigger -- or the same amount of a bigger number recovered through the fixed charge.

MR. BLYTHIN:  That's true.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So it is the same thing as here.

Now, earlier I asked you if you agreed that under the RFP there was an increased emphasis on customer engagement and outcomes.  Would you also agree that there is an increased emphasis on benchmarking under the RRFE?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, I would.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if you turn to page 6 of the compendium.  This is the response to 4 Energy Probe 28.  You indicated that you did use benchmarking for the wage and benefit costs, and as I understand that, you benchmarked yourself against 11 other utilities, and this information was filed in confidence as part of the technical conference undertakings; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  If you turn to pages 9 and 10 of the compendium.  This is pages 145 and 142 from the technical conference transcript.  Mr. Shepherd was asking you to follow up on 4 Energy Probe 28, and in your response, Ms. Wilson, you indicated that you went through all the rate applications that you could see and picked 11, only one of which was on the website, and by that do you mean there was only one of those 11 where the number was publicly available in an application on the Board's website?

MS. WILSON:  No, the process we used was our HR coordinator contacted her colleagues at other utilities and asked for two purposes.  One was, we used it for -- we used her data and e-mail responses from her colleagues for the rate application, but we're also going forward to negotiate our contract, which ends March 31st of this year.

So she was doing it for her purposes of the contract negotiation to prepare ourselves of where are other utilities before we head into negotiations.

So we received those e-mails -- she received those e-mails and she forwarded the ones that did respond.  Then we went on the website to see which one was public for their rate increases, and we found one on the -- I won't name which one -- we found one that we could search through rate application and the website for their collective agreement.

The other ones we were noticing when we did find any information that the other utilities that were on our list, they were filing their collective agreements in confidence, and what that transpired was, was we didn't want to violate how we did the process, because when we asked for the data from the other utilities we didn't tell them that we would make them public, so that is how we did that.

MR. AIKEN:  So am I safe to say that some of these 11 utilities would have been 2005 -- or may have been 2005 cost-of-service or custom IR filings or previous years?

MS. WILSON:  No, these are 2015 rate increases.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, that is what I meant.  Were they all 2015 filers?

MS. WILSON:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  So there were previous years' rates filers included in this list.

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Is it your understanding that the service lag -- so you can see I have now switched topics -- is it your understanding that the service lag is the number of days between when service is provided to a customer and when the customer's meter is read?

MS. WILSON:  What is the definition of a service lag?

MR. AIKEN:  I think it is pretty much just what I said, and I am asking if you agree with that definition.

MS. WILSON:  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. AIKEN:  Is the service lag the number of days between when service is provided to a customer and when the customer's meter is read?  Would you accept that subject to check?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And is it also your understanding that using the mid-point methodology the service lag associated with monthly billing is 15.21 days and 30.42 days for bimonthly billing?

MS. WILSON:  I couldn't answer that question.

MR. AIKEN:  Can we agree that the service lag -- your service lag has declined as a result of moving the former Niagara Falls residential and GS less than 50 customers to monthly billing in May of 2010?

MS. WILSON:  Again, I don't know what it was before, so to answer that it has declined, I couldn't answer that now.  We have not done a lead-lag study.

MR. AIKEN:  But haven't you provided evidence in your previous rates case that talked about a $3 million decrease in your working capital requirement?

MS. WILSON:  Our expectation when I did that analysis for moving from bimonthly billing for the Niagara Falls customers who were previously bimonthly to monthly billing, my expectation was you should see a $3 million decrease from the unbilled revenue moving to the accounts receivable, and then accounts receivable should move to cash.

MR. AIKEN:  Did Niagara Peninsula attempt to benchmark its working capital requirements to those of other distributors that had filed lead lag studies?

MS. WILSON:  No, it did not.

MR. AIKEN:  Why not?

MS. WILSON:  Well, I wasn't required to do a lead lag study, so I didn't benchmark to anybody else.  I followed the guidelines.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn to page 17 of the compendium?

Would you accept, subject to check, that the working capital filings summarized there are the latest filings for each of the distributors shown, and that this is a complete list of the electricity distributors in Ontario that have filed such studies?

MS. WILSON:  I would have to check that information.

MR. AIKEN:  That is why I asked subject to check, of course.

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Would you agree that it is not appropriate to use a default value for the working capital allowance that is at a higher level than those resulting from lead lag studies?

MS. WILSON:  I don't agree with that.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain why?

MS. WILSON:  I think you have to look at the individual circumstances for each utility if they are directed to do a lead lag study, to see if that utility is coming close to what the Ontario Energy Board has issued for a guideline.

So without us having to do -- having done a lead lag study, I couldn't tell you if it was appropriate for our utility or not.  I am not even sure 13 percent is enough for our utility.

MR. AIKEN:  In your view, should the Board take into consideration the results of other lead lag studies to benchmark your requested cost of service associated with working capital?

MS. WILSON:  No.  I think you need to look at the specifics of our utility.

MR. AIKEN:  And yet benchmarking of OM&A costs are fine?  What is the difference between using benchmarking for OM&A costs --


MS. WILSON:  Well, again, in the benchmarking of OM&A, to do a comparison of yourself to the another utility, you cannot -- I cannot get the data from what is filed to do an actual detailed comparison by just looking at the triple-R that is filed, because you actually have to go to 2.1.13 to see if there are reclassifications, like we do for the water billing, to move monies out of 5305 into 4380.

If you looked at our trial balance and just compared trial balance to trial balance, I wouldn't be able to say:  Well, they have four people in their line and I have three, and that is a benchmarking.  To actually show where you are sitting, again, how you do the accounting for allocated IT costs is a big impact.

So benchmarking is tricky if you are just going to look at face value, because there are circumstances that are around in each utility.  For example, you can have a storm that can hit.  The storm isn't significant enough to go for a Z factor but everybody has storms.  And in one year to the next year, even in our own utility, it can go up and down.

So benchmarking is -- first should be done inside the utility, and it can compare itself from one year to the next.  Benchmarking to another utility, a lot more data is going to have to be provided in order for us to answer those questions.

MR. AIKEN:  When you changed the frequency of the Niagara Falls Hydro customers from bimonthly to monthly billing, did that have any impact on how long it took you from the time you read the meter to when you issued the bill?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, it did.

MR. AIKEN:  And how was that...

MS. WILSON:  It would be one month earlier, 30 days.

MR. AIKEN:  No, but I am talking about the time difference from when you read the bill -– sorry, read the meter to when you issue the bill.  Was there any change in that time?

MS. WILSON:  No.  Actually when you received the pricing on the 15th of the month for the previous month, you would be billing that customer.  Say they were -- their reading dates for February 1st to February 28th as an example.  You would get the pricing on March 15th.  It will have been read, and you can go ahead and bill it.  That is under a bimonthly scenario -- or under a monthly scenario, sorry.

And then you go through your collection process with the number of correct days to receive payment.

If it was bimonthly, 60 days would have been passed, plus another 15 to wait for the pricing.

MR. AIKEN:  And so I take it, then, it also did not have any impact on the time from when you issued the bill to when you received payment from the customers?  I mean --


MS. WILSON:  Yeah, I mean, 2010, I can't remember, but the number of days for payment has increased.  I think it moved from 14 days to 17 days now, or 14 to -- yes, there is a little bit more number of days from 2010 til present.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you know why that is?  Because the bills are smaller, so why are they paying later?

MS. WILSON:  I am not sure.

MR. AIKEN:  When you say that it is increased from whatever you said -- 15 to 17 days -- isn't that in fact part of a lead lag study?  You track the time from when you issue a bill to when you get payment; that is part of a lead lag study, is it not?

MS. WILSON:  I would assume so, but I don't have any experience in doing one.

MR. AIKEN:  Did the change have any impact on when you paid your bills to the IESO or to your employees and suppliers and...

MS. WILSON:  From monthly billing, no.  We were still required to pay the monthly power bill by the 17th or -- ten days after you get three days to pay it.  That did not change.

MR. AIKEN:  And that time frame to pay the IESO, that is the same as all distributors?

MS. WILSON:  I believe so, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you please turn to page 5 in the compendium?

Do you accept, subject to check, that the impact on ratepayers shown of just over $105,000 for a 1 percent change in the working capital allowance is accurate?

MS. WILSON:  We ran the numbers in our model, and changing the working capital allowance from 13 percent to 12 percent, including the impact of PILs, would result in 117,934.

The number listed on page 5 of working -- of controllable expenses and cost of power is listed at 144,009,195.  We have 160,574,663 in our calculation, so we get a different number than what's been presented.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to file those calculations?

MS. WILSON:  Sure, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J1.2 would be an undertaking to provide the calculations conducted by NPEI with respect to the table found on page 5 of 18 of Energy Probe's compendium.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATIONS CONDUCTED BY NPEI WITH RESPECT TO THE TABLE FOUND ON PAGE 5 OF 18 OF ENERGY PROBE'S COMPENDIUM.

MR. AIKEN:  You mentioned a rate base number; could you repeat that for me?

MS. WILSON:  It is the working capital allowance base.  We have 160,574,663 using a working capital allowance of 12 percent --


MS. DUFF:  Sorry, what are you referring to?

MS. WILSON:  Oh...

MS. DUFF:  Can you just describe the document.

MS. WILSON:  It is our model of how we used for a rate-maker to calculate the revenue requirement revenue deficiency/sufficiency.

MS. DUFF:  Is it in the prefiled?  Just so you could point us to it.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry to jump in.  It is actually in the settlement agreement in the revenue requirement work form, under the "Settlement agreement" column.

MS. WILSON:  What page?

MR. AIKEN:  It is page 8 of 72 of appendix 1.1-A.

MS. WILSON:  So to refer to the way it is presented in the RRWF, we have a rate base of 142,402,444.  And the PILs would have changed to 141,893, resulting in a revenue sufficiency of 117,934, which is from settlement to this question.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, okay.  I am moving now to pages 11 through 16 of the compendium.  Can you confirm that this is an interrogatory response from EB-2010-0138, which was your cost-of-service proceeding to set rates for 2011?

MS. WILSON:  I believe so.

MR. AIKEN:  And moving to Appendix E on page 11 -- or, sorry, page 13, there are a number of costs and benefits associated with monthly billing.  I take it you agree that with monthly billing as compared to bimonthly billing there are incremental costs associated with bill producing and mailing costs?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Are there also costs associated with system or process changes?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, in our case it was more labour-intensive because our system could handle the monthly billing.  It was just a -- more of setting it all up and configuring it to have bill codes to do monthly instead of bimonthly billing, so it was labour-intensive.

MR. AIKEN:  And in terms of cost reduction, do you agree that there is a reduction associated with collection costs and bad debts?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And I take it based on the information in Appendix E as well as in Appendix F, which is over on page 15, that there is a cost reduction associated with improved cash flow?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And you have actually quantified the impact of the improved cash flow as a reduction of 3 million in working capital, and that's on page 13 near the bottom, correct?

MS. WILSON:  And that was from 2010, correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  And at the top of Appendix E, page 13, you had just over 32,000 customers that you converted to monthly billing.  Am I correct that this represents about 50 percent of the total customers you had in the merged entity back in 2010?  Something in that neighbourhood?

MR. BLYTHIN:  It is somewhat greater than 50 percent.  We have about 46-, 47,000 residential customers.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. WILSON:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  I was going to ask you about that date in that memo, but --


MS. WILSON:  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you for clearing that up.

So back on the 3 million, how did you estimate this $3 million reduction in working capital as a result of moving to monthly billing?

MS. WILSON:  I took the residential cycles for the Niagara Falls customers, and I looked at -- you would get 6 million from those residential customers on a monthly basis -- or a bimonthly basis.  So if you are going to move half of them -- or change the time period to 30 days instead of 60 days, I took $3 million, and that is what you should expect coming to move out of unbilled, move it into your accounts receivable, because it is billed, and then the ones that were in your accounts receivable should move to cash.

MR. AIKEN:  And so I take it from your explanation that your estimate is independent of how the working capital is calculated for regulatory purposes?

MS. WILSON:  This estimate -- that's correct.  This estimate was based on what the unbilled revenue for those residential customers for the Niagara Falls-only customers was at that time using their bills at that time.

MR. AIKEN:  If you can turn to pages 7 and 8 of the compendium.  Again, this is going back to the technical-conference transcript.  Here Mr. Shepherd was discussing that, this $3 million reduction in the working capital requirements, and on page 140 specifically, starting at line 9, you indicate that there were actually no savings, so I just want to walk you through your statement.

And so starting at line 9 you say:

"There is actually no savings, because when you are in a bimonthly situation your unbilled revenue would be sitting there for two months, and what we have noticed is that the unbilled revenue should only actually be one month."

So stopping there, I think what you are saying is that the service lag dropped from two months to one month, correct?

MS. WILSON:  I believe so, based on your definition of a service lag, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  And then continuing on:

"But what has happened is the cost of power, because your accounts receivable and your unbilled revenue, the way the cost of power has increased 35 percent, since we have done the merger, it ate the 3 million because you don't see it on the income or you don't see it on the balance sheet now.  My accounts receivable is pretty much the same as it was."

So if I summarize this latter part of that statement, am I correct that you are saying that there was a $3 million reduction due to the move to monthly billing but the increase in the cost of power and to a lesser extent OM&A has eaten that $3 million up, so you are basically back to where you were before?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, and actually, I am lower than that now with the loss of water.  We used to have -- how we did the water was we billed on behalf of the city for the city of Niagara Falls-only customers, and we trued up with the City on a quarterly basis, so one month of water owing to the City equivalated (sic) to about 2.8 million, depending on which month you are in.  The summer months are much higher.

So in month 2 we were still hanging on to that cash.  We had 4- or $5 million.  Then in month 3 you had another 2.8, and we paid them in the fourth month.  So on average, you had an extra $2.8 million in your cash as well.  So we have declined from a cash perspective.

But, yes, the cost of power -- if you took the bills of a customer from 2010 and did this analysis and then reran your postage numbers and everything else to the new rates, there wouldn't be that $3 million.  You would see that it would go down because a person's bill is much higher sitting in unbilled and sitting in accounts receivable.

MR. AIKEN:  You lost me on that last part.  The customer -- the bill was higher back then.

MS. WILSON:  No, it is higher now.  A customer's power bill is -- or a customer's monthly bill is higher than it was in 2010, and the majority of that is the cost of power.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so your accounts receivable is higher because the cost of power is higher.

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And maybe I am just repeating that, but on the following page, page 9, it sounds like you just said the same thing, but I am going to ask you anyways.

I take it you agreed with Mr. Shepherd that your working capital requirement went down by $3 million in 2010 and it's gone up by $3 million since then because of the cost of power increase.

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I think those are all my questions.  Let me just confirm here.

I guess just to finalize things, on the very last page of the compendium -- this is the rate-base page out of the revenue-requirement work form that was included in your draft rate order in EB-2010-0138.  And in that case the approved working capital allowance was about 18.4 million.  And that was based on the 15 percent factor that was in place at that time.

And do you agree that the Board reduced the 15 percent to 13 percent based on the lead lag studies filed by distributors in cost-of-service applications before it issued its letter in April of 2012?  Is that your understanding of --


MS. WILSON:  I am not sure.  I haven't read that proceeding.

MR. AIKEN:  It actually wasn't a proceeding, it was just a letter from the Board.

MS. WILSON:  I am not sure which letter, sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, well, in the April 12th, 2012 letter from the Board, it states:

"The Board has reviewed the results of lead lag studies filed by distributors in cost of service applications, and in each of those cases both the applied-for WCA and the final Board-approved WCA have been lower than 15 percent.  The Board has determined that it is not appropriate for a default value for WCA to be set at a higher level than those resulting from lead lag studies.  Based on the results of WCA studies filed with the Board in the past few years, the Board has determined that the default value going forward will be 13 percent of the sum of cost of power and controllable expenses."

So based on that, do you agree that the reduction from 15 to 13 percent was based on the lead lag studies the Board had seen?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Aiken, are you asking Ms. Wilson to agree with what the letter says?  I mean, the letter speaks for itself.  Are you asking her what her interpretation is of that letter?

MR. AIKEN:  I am asking what her interpretation of that letter is.

MS. WILSON:  I am not actually sure where the Board came to the 13 percent, but if you look at what was filed on page 17 of 18, which you would like me to confirm, not all of these distributors who filed a lead lag study were 13 percent, not even as the average.

So I can't comment on how the Board arrived at 13 percent, but 13 percent is, again, higher than what was provided for.  So I don't agree with that, with what you are asking.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that on page 17, all of these lead lag studies were filed after the Board's letter, with the exception of the very first one, the Hydro Ottawa?  So the Board did not have these lead lag studies other than Hydro Ottawa when it issued this letter?

MS. WILSON:  So the Board based its 13 percent on the 14.2 or the 9.6?

MR. AIKEN:  No, the -- well, that is a matter of contention as to what the Board actually did.

MS. WILSON:  I am not sure where the Board -- how the Board arrived at the 13 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.

MS. WILSON:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I am indebted to Mr. Aiken covering some of the area that I would propose to cover.  I am only dealing with one issue in my cross-examination; that is the residential and fixed/variable split.

Panel, I wonder, first of all, if I can have my compendium marked as an exhibit?

MS. HELT:  Yes.  That can be Exhibit K1.4, the compendium of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I take it the witness panel has a copy of that before them?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  I would like to ask you to turn to page 5 of that compendium, and -- actually, turn to page 4 first of all.

And this is an excerpt from Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 2 and 3 of your application.  And you outline in this exhibit your proposal for increasing the fixed portion of the residential fixed/variable split is from 58.53 percent to 65 percent; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn over to page 5, and halfway down the page at line 15, you note that:

"NPEI does not propose to adopt any of the three specific proposals described in the draft report..."

Which is the draft Report on Rate Design for Electricity Distributors, EB-2012-0410, that you describe above.
"...for its 2015 rates.  However, given that the Board has determined it will proceed with revenue decoupling for the low-volume classes, NPEI submits that it is appropriate to begin increasing the fixed proportion of the residential and general service classes at this time.  Therefore NPEI proposes a 65 percent fixed/35 percent variable split for the residential class for 2015."

This is the rationale that you have used to increase the fixed/variable split; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  Part of the rationale, correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, where is the other part?  You have only listed one.

MS. WILSON:  We listed it in the interrogatory.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that was?

MS. WILSON:  Where it would benefit two-thirds of the customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But you didn't note that in this particular part.  This seems to be the rationale was that the Board had determined that it will proceed with revenue decoupling for the low-volume classes.

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.  We did not put the 65 percent customer count in the application.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could turn to page 8 of my compendium.  And here is an excerpt from your previous 2011 rate application, EB-2010-0138, Exhibit 8.  And I would like to turn to -- or on that page, note that you made note of the Board's distribution revenue decoupling proceeding, EB-2010-0060.

And this is the same Board proceeding that you have referenced in your current application; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And returning to your 2011 application, if you look at -- again, at lines 21 and 24, note that:

"In this application, NPEI submits that until distribution revenue decoupling proceeding is completed, it would not be appropriate to change the fixed/variable split.  As a result, changes in monthly service charges are due solely to changes in the total base requirement attributable to each customer class."

Now, if your view was you should wait for the completion of the distribution revenue decoupling proceeding before initiating any revenue -- any fixed/variable split in 2011, why are you proposing now a change prior to any finalization of that policy?

MS. WILSON:  The guidelines, section 2.11.2, allows us that distributors can propose a fixed monthly charge within their applications based on the proposed policy options as applicable for the Board's consideration.  So --


MR. JANIGAN:  But you didn't take any of those policy options?  You proposed a different one, did you not?

MS. WILSON:  No, we are showing that 100 percent doesn't work for our customers, so we went back to the original of where we were prior to the merger of the 65/35 split, two-thirds/one-third.

MR. JANIGAN:  But this is circular.  You have given us as a primary rationale the fact that the Board's revenue decoupling proceeding has suggested moving to a different fixed charge.  And on the one hand, you say in 2011:  Well, we shouldn't do that until this is actually finalized by the Board.  And in this particular proceeding, you decide to push ahead without any finalization of that policy by the Board.

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess you don't have any particular knowledge that the draft report will be the final report of the Board, I take it?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  What are you going to do if the final report rejects the option of increasing the fixed/variable split?

MS. WILSON:  To 100 percent?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. WILSON:  We are not proposing 100 percent.  We are proposing to go back to our historical fixed/variable split from the Niagara Falls -- prior to the merger.  Those customers were 66 percent fixed, one-third variable.

MR. JANIGAN:  But you have submitted in your evidence that it's appropriate to begin increasing the fixed proportion of the residential and general service customers on the basis that the Board has determined it will proceed with revenue decoupling?  Isn't this jumping the gun?

MR. BLYTHIN:  We would be guided by the Board's -- what the Board decides at the time if they reject the revenue decoupling.  It is in the final requirements that a distributor can bring this forward.  I am not aware if the Board has approved any 100 percent fixed charges at this time, but we would assume that if the Board decides not to proceed with the revenue decoupling there could be some guidance as for utilities that had increased their fixed charge what they should do about that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Why was it prudent to wait until the final report was issued in 2011 and it's not prudent to do so today?

MS. WILSON:  Again, when we were harmonizing that rate application back in 2010, it was a massive undertaking, and we did not address rate design at that time, we addressed harmonization of rates.  So we just missed the whole rate design part of it back in 2010.


And now that our rates are harmonized for the two service territories, we are actually now down to one tariff.  We are actually focused on rate design to go back to where we were prior to the merger.

MR. JANIGAN:  But you'll agree with me that the reason that you give in 2011 is not the harmonization question, it is that it would not be appropriate to change the fixed/variable split until the distribution revenue coupling proceeding is completed.  There is nothing in there about harmonization or that it will be a problem to do so at that time; am I correct?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, I would like you to turn to my compendium, page 11.  And I apologize if some of this is repetitive of Mr. Aiken's cross-examination.  But here we asked what the rationale was for choosing 65 percent as the proposed fixed portion of the residential rate design, and you indicate it was because it results in a lower bill impact for a typical residential customer using 800 kilowatts per month; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, is 800 kilowatts per month the average use for an NPEI residential customer?

MS. WILSON:  I think it is actually slightly over that.  It is 823 -- what is it?  Seven...  It is between 750 and 800.

MR. JANIGAN:  I am puzzled on that, because you show, I believe, that the residential class has 407-thousand-092-792 kilowatt hours with 47,067 customers, and my calculation is that it is about 720 kilowatt-hours.  If you look at the compendium on pages 15 and 16, some of those figures are...

MR. BLYTHIN:  So that is based on our weather normalized load forecast and our customer forecast for the test year?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, let's look at the two sources here.  One is on page 21 and 22, and it outlines that there are -- on page 22 -- there are 47,045 customers.  I take it that's correct?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  On page 22 of my compendium --


MR. BLYTHIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- which is an excerpt from an interrogatory response of NPEI, it shows the total number of residential customers to 47,045; is that correct?

MR. BLYTHIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if we look on pages 15 and 16 of my compendium, in particular pages 16, you have the 2015 weather normalized bill kilowatt forecast, that is right, of 407-thousand-and-92-792.

MR. BLYTHIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  That would appear to be an average use per customer of about 720 kilowatt-hours.  Would that be correct?

MR. BLYTHIN:  So we would -- subject to check, we would agree with your math based on the fact that that is a weather normalized forecast for the test year and a customer count forecast.  Our most recent actuals, I believe, is slightly higher than that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In any event, if we look at the bill impacts which are set out on page 29 of the settlement agreement and in my compendium on page 19, we look at 800 kilowatt-hours, the bill impact for the 800 kilowatt-hour customer.  The impact for the 65/35 split is only slightly less than the impact if the current fixed-variable split is used.

MR. BLYTHIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if I move up to the 500 kilowatt-hour use I find that the difference in bill impacts is considerably greater, more than three times greater.

MR. BLYTHIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And now I realize that you are going to be calculating the break point in response to undertaking given to Mr. Aiken, but would I be correct in suggesting that the break point in monthly usage where the bill impacts are the same would be considerably closer to 800 kilowatt-hours per month than 500 kilowatt-hours per month?

MS. WILSON:  I don't think I can say that until we actually do the calculation.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine.  Now, staying with that page, page 19, when I look at the range of bill impacts, I note that if the current fixed-variable split was maintained, the range of bill impacts would be from 3.91 percent for a customer using 2,000 kilowatt-hours per month to 9.02 percent for a customer using 100 kilowatt-hours per month, and that is a spread of about 5.11 percentage points; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in contrast under your 65/35 proposal, the impacts range from 2.54 percent for a customer using 2,000 kilowatt-hours to 14.97 percent for a customer using 100 kilowatt-hours, for a spread of 12.43 percentage points.

Furthermore, would you agree that the customers using less than 250 kilowatts per month will see bill impacts approaching, if not exceeding, 10 percent up to 15 percent?

MS. WILSON:  At 250 and below it would be at 15 percent; that is correct.  250 kWh, it would be 9.51 percent.

MR. JANIGAN:  Why was a doubling of the spread in customer impacts considered appropriate?

MS. WILSON:  We looked at a majority of the customers.  65 percent of the customers would benefit.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And for those other customers the doubling of that -- of the spread of the impacts in order to accommodate that was thought to be appropriate?

MS. WILSON:  It is not appropriate.  However, some -- there is going to be some winners and some losers in what I have been hearing is widows and orphans, so we looked at the majority.  65 percent of our customers would benefit from this.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, the fact that a portion of your residential customer base would experience bill impacts in 10 percent, this was solely due to the fact that there would be more winners than losers in your proposal?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.  Well, it is not solely due.  We looked at all of it, but the majority of the customers would benefit from moving back to the previous fixed revenue variable split of 65/35.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any data to suggest that lower volume usage by your customers is -- correlates strongly with lower income of the customers?

MS. WILSON:  No, we do not.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe Mr. Aiken canvassed this with you.  I believe you did not undertake any customer engagement with respect to this particular proposal?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions for this panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Shepherd?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I will be brief.  Mr. Aiken asked most of my questions.  And I do not have a compendium because there is not much left.

I wonder if you could turn, Ms. Wilson, to page 8 of Mr. Aiken's compendium.  Do you have that?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  You see on line 18 and 19 you've said your accounts receivable are about the same as they were in 2010.  Is that still true?

MS. WILSON:  I can verify that.  In 2009, the unbilled revenue was $14,329,339.  In 2010, that unbilled revenue changed to 11,766,182.

The accounts receivable in 2009, prior to going to monthly billing, was $9,556,798.  In 2010, accounts receivable went to 10,505,926.

In 2014, unbilled revenue is now 16,220,588, and accounts receivable are 12,393,725.

And those numbers are inclusive of all rate classes.  I don't have a breakdown between the residential -- the impact of the residential Niagara Falls customers which monthly billing affected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So although your -- so your receivables have gone up by about 20 percent, roughly, while your cost of power, which is the bulk of your receivables, went up by 35 percent.  Right?

MS. WILSON:  About $2 million from 2009, almost 3 million.  So 9.5 million to 12.3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, no, I mean receivables and unbilled.  The combination --


MS. WILSON:  Oh, together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- went from 23.9 to 28.6.  That is about 20 percent, right?  That is your float, if you like?

MS. WILSON:  Okay.  I would have to do the math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to determine is:  Is it true that the distribution component of your bills, your combination of unbilled and receivables has gone down?

MS. WILSON:  The distribution portion of my bill?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, because --


MS. WILSON:  No, I have increases in -- throughout the IRM, the distribution portion has increased from 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these figures, these 23.9 and 28.6, are these distribution only?

MS. WILSON:  These are from my audited financial statements.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're total, right?

MS. WILSON:  They are total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if cost of power has gone up 35 percent, that's all of that and more of that increase?  And more, right?

MS. WILSON:  Okay.  I would have to do the math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to ask you, then, about -- if you could go to page 13 of the materials, your memo to your board of directors was arguing that monthly billing was going to end up saving money, right?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you did is you looked at the various costs and you looked at the various benefits and you basically netted them out?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so if I just go down through these, things like postage, that's in your application now; whatever the additional cost is associated with postage for more bills, that is in your OM&A, isn't it?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.  Because it was done in the previous cost of service in 2011, it would have accounted for that.  Monthly billing costs are in 2011, so they are in this application as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they are in this application because you estimated how much it was going to cost you in postage, right?

MS. WILSON:  But they were in the previous cost of service as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about that.  I am asking about this one.

MS. WILSON:  Sorry, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the envelopes and the additional bills, those are all included already, right?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are in your OM&A, those additional costs?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whatever impact on bad debt, have you done an analysis about what the impact on bad debt is?

MS. WILSON:  You can actually see that from changing from monthly billing, we actually experienced a decrease in general bad debts, excluding any impacts of bankruptcies.  They are one-time in our service area.  So yes, we did see an improvement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is this 100,000 estimate, is that in the right range?

MS. WILSON:  Actually, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And then you have "Unbilled revenue reconciliation."  I confess I don't know what that is.  Can you tell me?

MS. WILSON:  To prepare unbilled revenue, it is very labour-intensive from our side to actually come up with the number so it can be audited and recorded in the general ledger properly.  It was very difficult -- it is very difficult to take the Niagara Falls previous customers who are bimonthly and do an unbilled revenue calculation for them, because you didn't know -- you are trying to match the unbilled with the power, but you don't know if they used that power on February 14th or did they use that power on February 18th, so it is very labour-intensive in order for us to have calculated the unbilled revenue when you have bimonthly mixed with cycles that have monthly people in it, which brings on the peninsula west side.  So you had to do everything twice.

So in switching everybody, harmonizing them to monthly billing, it is easy to do now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that savings, then, that lower cost --


MS. WILSON:  It is usually -- it's labour and benefits, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is in the current application?  That's reflected in the current application?

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, the reduced reminder notices, that would also be reflected in the current application?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only thing that is not reflected is that your cash flow has improved because of monthly billing, right?

MS. WILSON:  The interest, the 60,000, which is part of the revenue offsets, that is included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was wondering about that, because, you see, it seems to me that you don't actually get 2 percent on the improved cash flow, do you?

MS. WILSON:  Not now you don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You get 7.34 percent, don't you?

MS. WILSON:  I am not sure where you are getting that from.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I just went to page 5 of Mr. Aiken's material, where the pre-tax cost of capital is 7.34 percent.  And indeed, you agreed that the impact of changing the amount of the working capital is $117,934 per 1 percent, which is 7.34 percent return.  Because that is what you actually get on that, because that is what you collect from the ratepayers for that amount, isn't it?

MS. WILSON:  Using that calculation, yes, but I am not confirming that we saved the $3 million.  There were other factors that we have lost, which -- like I said, we have lost the reserve of water, which is in your cash, which is part of working capital, which is on that investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, so -- I am sorry -- I don't understand how that's relevant to how much you collect from the ratepayers for distribution rates.

MS. WILSON:  Well, you are just trying to isolate the $3 million, that I have all this extra money and $3 million, and I don't have that extra money and $3 million.  Since the last rate application, we have taken on $10 million in loans every year.

So if you are just going to look at the audited financial statements from a snapshot, to say at December 31st you have all this extra cash, we don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have it because of the water billing, right?

MS. WILSON:  That is part of it.  In 2014 I no longer have that.  I had to true up all of the water in May of 2014, and we paid them $8.6 million and we are done with water.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in your prior rates, did you give the ratepayers credit for all that excess cash that you had in water?  Was your working capital reduced by that amount?

MS. WILSON:  The working capital was based on 15 percent in the last rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you just kept the benefit of that 4- or $5 million that you had at any given time, didn't you?

MS. WILSON:  I wouldn't say that, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, did you give it to the ratepayers?

MS. WILSON:  Well, I had to take on debt, which is a cost to the ratepayers, because I didn't have all this extra money that you are thinking I did --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I am asking before you lost the water billing, right, when you still had the water billing, did you say, Oh, well, we don't need to have the deemed ratio of debt and equity, because we don't need as much money?  You didn't say that, did you?  You didn't reduce rates to reflect that, did you?

MS. WILSON:  No, I prepared the cost-of-service rate application in accordance with the guidelines in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But now, when the water billing is gone, you want the Board to say, Oh, but now you don't have that cash any more, the cash you never gave the ratepayers credit for earlier.  Now you want to say, Oh, the ratepayers have to pay that cost, right?

MS. WILSON:  I am saying I never had enough money in the last three years, that I've had to go take three $10 million loans, and that was based on a calculation of 15 percent working capital allowance, which is now being reduced to 13 percent and the loss of water.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you had to borrow money to maintain your ratio of 56 percent long-term debt, right?

MS. WILSON:  No, I had to borrow money to operate the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if that is the case, why didn't you do a lead lag study to show that you needed more working capital?

MS. WILSON:  Because I followed the guidelines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The guidelines aren't a rule.  They are not binding --


MS. WILSON:  No, but I wasn't directed to do one either --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you only do things that you are directed to do, or do you try to run the business the best way possible?

MS. WILSON:  We did run the business the best way possible.  We went through the process of doing another RFP and followed the process through to take on $10 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But what I don't understand is if you had a cash-flow problem why didn't you do an analysis?  You knew you had a cash-flow problem, right?

MS. WILSON:  That's correct, and I didn't think a lead lag study would identify that I had a problem when I knew once we got rid of the water we were going to have to take on a $10 million loan.  I didn't have to go out and spend all kinds of money with a consultant for something that I knew.

Once you lose $8.6 million cash out of your account, we no longer had it, we knew we were going to have to take on a $10 million loan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this had nothing to do with the ratepayers, with the working capital allowance, it had to do with water billing, right?

MS. WILSON:  No, it had to do with operating the business, and one of the things that came up was we lost the water in 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought you just said you lost $8.6 million and so you had to borrow 10.  Isn't that what you said?

MS. WILSON:  I had to pay out $8.6 million on the finalization of water.  I took a $10 million loan in November of 2014.  We actually went into overdraft in September of 2014, which we were in the current process of getting all of the Board approvals, shareholders' approval, and the RFP, which was done in October, for us to take on the money in November.

I also went through and increased our operating line of credit, because the power bills that we are currently seeing on a monthly basis are -- were higher than the $8 million operating line of credit that I currently had in place, so I went through the process of updating that to $10 million.  No lead lag study was going to tell me to do that.  You just do it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you knew there was benefit from the merger, but because of all these other things you didn't quantify it.  Is that fair?  You estimated --


MS. WILSON:  I estimated this from a cost benefit perspective of taking it to the board.  It would be beneficial to our customers that they would be able to see their usage on a much more timely basis, and there was a positive benefit.  This was not used for the purpose of calculating a working capital allowance or the preparation of the 2011 rate application, it was a memo that was provided for the purpose of telling our board of directors there is a cost benefit due -- the cost on that time was positive to move forward with monthly billing.  It was also positive for us to harmonize the two different ratepayers, because we had a Niagara Falls which was bimonthly and a Peninsula West customer residential that was monthly, so you want to harmonize them, everybody gets the same treatment, same costs are now applied to both, and that is why we did that.

This wasn't for the purpose of having -- being used for the 2011 rate application, and at that time monthly billing had been in play and we weren't directed to do a lead lag study.  At that time prior to us coming back we followed the guidelines in this rate application, which allowed us to use 13 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't actually need 13 percent of working capital.

MS. WILSON:  I can't quantify if the 13 percent is enough, based on where we are seeing these power bills, and the global adjustment is climbing, so I can say that we can operate our business with the rate application that's been put forward, both from a capital and operating point of view, to the best that we can do to operate our business in the interests of our customer and our shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  I just have one quick question.  I was trying to get clear in my mind the sequence of events and dates with the water billing.  So you mentioned May 2014 was the final payment, that was the final true-up.  When did you actually stop billing for the water?

MS. WILSON:  April.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, just one month later.

MS. WILSON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And during the period that you were doing the bimonthly billing to your customers and the quarterly true-up to the water utility, there is no interest paid or any kind of accrual for --


MS. WILSON:  No, they didn't receive any interest benefit that I was holding approximately $2.8 million a month of their money.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I understand, thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  I understand from page 12 of 37 of the settlement agreement that NPEI has undertaken -- will undertake a lead lag study prior to their next cost-of-service application unless the Board does a generic study; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, Madam Chair; that is correct.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  And Ms. Wilson, there is one other thing I wanted to talk to you about.  You had mentioned in your examination certain bankruptcies, and I am just wondering if you can provide us with a context to whether or not that has had a negative effect on the utility and how you are dealing with that, this bankruptcy of customers you had mentioned.

MS. WILSON:  We've had one that is leaving our service area, but we have a power bond in play that we are currently looking at.  We are in the process of collecting, so we do not have any current significant bankruptcies that our service area is facing at this time.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Stoll, those are our questions.  Do you have any redirect?  I understand Board Staff is not asking any questions?

MR. STOLL:  I was just going to clarify that.

MS. HELT:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  Board Staff has no questions.
Re-Examination by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  I just have a couple questions, and I will go with the rate design issue first, and you'll recall you had an exchange with Mr. Janigan about the waiting for a finalization of the Board's proceeding on revenue decoupling; do you recall that?

MS. WILSON:  I think so.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Would it have been your expectation in 2010 or 2011 that that proceeding would still be outstanding four or five years later?

MS. WILSON:  Actually, no, I don't believe it would be.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right.  And I just want to try and clarify a couple other things.  Member Duff asked you about the one variance account earlier on in the settlement proposal, and you had indicated that you -- do you recall that exchange?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and directionally, that obligation, would that have an effect on your working cash requirements?

MS. WILSON:  Yes, when I look at working capital, I do include the regulatory liabilities and regulatory assets.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right.  Okay.  And just so I am clear, the increase in the cost of power since the prior rate application has been approximately how much?

MS. WILSON:  I believe 35 million.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I believe you had an exchange that was about 30 --


MS. WILSON:  32 percent, I believe.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And in the exchange with Mr. Shepherd, I believe you had a discussion around proportionality regarding the distribution charges.  And what I took is that you had said distribution rates' component of bills was still increasing; is that correct?

MS. WILSON:  The distribution component of the total bill has increased from 2010 until the current application.

MR. STOLL:  But the cost of power increase has been quicker than the rate of increase?

MS. WILSON:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  I think that's it for the witness panel.  We excuse you and thank you for your evidence today.  It was helpful.

MS. WILSON:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stoll, you were going to do your argument in-chief.  Do you need -- is an hour enough, or do you want an hour and a half?

MR. STOLL:  If I could have until 1:30, that would be appreciated.  I don't expect I will be very long.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  That's fine.  So we will break until 1:30.

With respect to the settlement agreement, we would ask that the parties work on that one section, 5.1, to reflect the discussion that we have had this morning, so that the document is a standalone one.

And I guess also based on the discussion, Mr. Aiken, that you had this morning with the witness panel, page 30 of 37 may need to be modified to more correctly reflect when the proposed variable split results in a lower total bill.  We are not looking for exact percentages here, but you had a discussion with the panel, and even though that is an unsettled issue I think it should be properly reflected in the settlement agreement.

Do you know where I am, Mr. Stoll?  I am on page 30 of 37, the first paragraph.  It currently says:

"The proposed 65 fixed/35 variable split results in a lower total bill increase than maintaining the existing fixed/variable split."

There was some discussion that that should be modified slightly.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I think that is going to come out as a result of the crossover calculation that's part of the undertaking.

MS. LONG:  You can either put that in at the time the undertaking is done or you can generally state how that works out between the 500 and the 800.  I believe that is where the crossover is.  Obviously we are going to get an exact number, but even if it is generally reflected --


MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  -- that would be better.

So we will expect that the settlement proposal will be refiled with those changes, and on that basis the Panel is prepared to accept it.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  I am assuming that the intervenors do not want to do submissions this afternoon.  So we should set a schedule for that. 

We are proposing March 27th for the intervenors, and then April 7th, Mr. Stoll, for your reply.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, would that also be for Board Staff on March 27th? 

MS. LONG:  Yes, that would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, is that intended to be oral or written?

MS. LONG:  Written, unless you would like to do it orally, but I assumed that you would not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be out of the country at that time, so no.

MS. LONG:  If you are going somewhere warm, we could join you there.  But no, it will be written.  Thank you.

Are there any other issues we need to deal with?  I assume we may lose the intervenors; they may not return at 1:30.  So if there is anything else that needs to be dealt with?  No?

Okay.  Then we will see you, Mr. Stoll, at 1:30.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:03 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stoll, any preliminary matters to deal with?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STOLL:  Yes, there are a couple issues.  The first -- and I guess they are both around the settlement agreement, and we can deal with them one at a time here, the first being the issue around the Niagara Parks Commission.

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And we had the discussion with the intervenors and had provided some wording and shared that with Board Staff, and there were a couple minor suggested changes which I don't have a problem with and I don't think my friends will, but --


MS. LONG:  But you would like to confirm with them.

MR. STOLL:  I will confirm when we submit that there is no problems with it.  If you want I can read it into the record or I can just file it.

MS. LONG:  You can just file it, that's fine, once you their concurrence.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right, thank you very much.

And the second issue goes to the other reference in the settlement agreement around what's the true cross-over point for the 65/35.  And this was tied to the undertaking, and so we had suggest -- we had the over 500, and if you refine the number, the actual point of indifference where you get the same result of impact with a 65/35 fixed-variable split and the current fixed-variable split of 58/42 is 711 kilowatt-hours, so we can reflect that value in the settlement agreement.

MS. LONG:  Good.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and I think in conjunction with that, it highlighted one of the issues that -- so in the undertaking we are going to provide the -- that number formally, but also we would like to provide the customer count, the actual customer count that will be below that.  That will leave, obviously, the remaining customers above that, because this was one of the issues that we had dealt with in our evidence as the basis for the proposal, was the benefit to the greatest number of customers.

So I will speak to that a little bit, but -- so the response to the undertaking will be a little more fulsome than what you might expect otherwise.

MS. LONG:  That's fine, thank you.
Closing Argument by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So as you know, there is just the two the issues, the rate design fixed-variable split and working capital.  I am going to talk about rate design first.  And the proposal that NPEI has brought forward is for a 65/35 fixed-variable split, and we are still of the view that that should be accepted by the Board as appropriate in the circumstances, and we understand that VECC is taking an alternative position that the current 58/42 fixed-variable split is appropriate, and we have the undertaking response, as I mentioned, so part of my comments will be subject to what that undertaking actually reveals.

But I would like to make the Board aware when -- and this came out in the evidence, basically.  There were three kind of principles that NPEI had considered in this, and one, it was -- and the first one being, it was consistency with Board policy, which the -- and the directionality of the Board's policy in the revenue decoupling proceeding.

The second is, it basically is a return to the historical fixed-variable split for the Niagara Falls customers, or the former Niagara Falls Hydro customers.

The third, it was felt that it would benefit the greatest number of customers, and that point will actually be confirmed through the answering of the undertaking.

So through the evidence there was an exchange regarding the impact on the small-volume residential customer, the less-than-250-kilowatt customer, which represents about seven-and-a-half percent of NPEI's customers.  And it is some smaller portion of that that would be impacted by more than 10 percent under NPEI's proposal.

So when we went through the tables, Mr. Janigan took Ms. Wilson to the table and suggested that there was a 15 percent impact for the 100-kilowatt customers.  The 250-kilowatt customers would see an impact of about nine-and-a-half percent within what would be considered the 10 percent rate mitigation range.

So at some point under 250 it crosses the 10 percent impact.  So -- and if you look at the customer count numbers -- and it's in page 22 of the VECC compendium K1.4, and there is a table there that shows the zero to 100 kilowatt customers are about 1.5 percent, and the 100 to 250 kilowatt-hour customers are about 6 percent.

So from our perspective, there would be a very small portion that would fall outside of the Board's rate mitigation strategy.  And as a whole, the customer class is well below that.

And typically the Board would look at the 800 kilowatt-hour customer as a representation of the typical, and that is well below the 10 percent impact.

There were a couple other discussion points through the evidence on this issue, and it revolves around some of the statements that were made in the prior cost-of-service application, and Mr. Janigan took Ms. Wilson to the statements that basically had indicated the move to an increased fixed-variable split at that time should await the Board's result on revenue decoupling.

Well, I think you have to consider the context and the expectations, and Ms. Wilson confirmed in redirect that the expectation would not have been we would be sitting here five years -- or four-and-a-half or five years later waiting for a final result on that.

So I think that expectation was that that proceeding would have concluded earlier than this cost-of-service application.

So I don't think you can read too much into that statement about waiting from the 2011 cost-of-service application and impacting or restricting NPEI from the current proposal in this application.

There was also an exchange where Mr. Janigan sought to investigate the linkage between consumption and income or ability to pay, and with respect, there is no evidence in this proceeding on the ability to pay and consumption values.

So there may be some speculation, but right now there is no evidence and, therefore, we don't think the Board would be appropriate in drawing conclusions without an evidentiary basis in that regard.

So on that issue I have no further comments regarding the proposal.

So the one outstanding issue is the working capital allowance, which has been before the Board on several occasions.  And I guess I will preface my comments with, the utility is aware of what the Board had done and its acceptance of the 13 percent, and regulated entities would be expected to be not only aware of those decisions but where there is a pattern to those decisions, the utilities would be expected to be following that pattern, or go to significant lengths to justify a departure from that.  I think you would be criticized as a utility if you anticipated what the Board would do on a particular issue.

So in that regard, NPEI was aware what the Board had done, but -- and we will just walk through a little bit of the history here, in that we used the 13 percent from the guideline.  And as the Panel is aware, the settlement agreement contemplates, prior to the next cost of service, we will do a lead lag, my client will do a lead lag study.  So that information will be available in the future.

It's our submission that the intervenors' case in the present hearing suffers from the same flaw that it has in other proceedings, and it's that they don't have any evidence on this utility of what an appropriate alternative would be.  What they have is a dislike for the 13 percent and a feeling that it should be lower.

So if we look back at the history, the Board gave the utilities the two options: file the lead lag, or use the 13 percent default value. 

We chose to use the 13 percent value.  We have never been ordered or required to do a lead lag study.

And the Board's expectations around this issue were captured in 2012, and that state of affairs basically remains unchanged.  The Board issued the letter on April 17th, 2012, to all licenced distributors, entitled "Update to chapter 2 of the filing requirements for transmission and distribution applications, allowance for working capital," which updated the options for the calculation of working capital. 

And just prior to that, the Board in their April 12th letter had said to LDCs:

"The Board has reviewed the approach the calculation and will not require distributors to require lead lag for 2000, unless they are required to do so as a result of previous Board decisions."

So the Board is basically saying to utilities:  Unless we have told you to do with the lead lag, you are free to use the 13 percent.  There shouldn't be any consideration that there is an ulterior motive from using the 13 percent.  The utility did what it was entitled to do.

And on that point, the Board determined that the default value would be the 13 percent for the sum of the cost of power and the controllable expenses.  And that was going to be applied for the 2013 applications and beyond, and that policy is still in place, to our knowledge.

And this is still in section 2.5.1.3 of the filing requirements for electricity distribution rate application.  So basically the Board's documents and filing guidelines give you an option; they chose the one option of the 13 percent.  There is no dispute -- we have agreed on the number that the 13 percent is to be applied to.

I would like to put NPEI's approach in context, and basically say this is what most of the utilities have been doing.  And in the 2014 cost of service, 10 of the 11 filers used the 13 percent.  I believe there was only one exception, being Veridian, which had previously agreed to do the lead lag study.  So it's not that anybody can say NPEI departed from the normal practice of other utilities.

And we would note that the Board has accepted this approach in a vast majority of cases: Burlington Hydro, Oakville, Cambridge and North Dumfries, Kitchener-Wilmot, Cooperative, Hydro Embrun, Fort Frances and Hydro Hawkesbury.

So I think -- well, the precedence is that the Board accepts the 13 percent unless there is utility-specific evidence that would indicate another percentage is appropriate.  And the only way that we are aware that the Board has ever gone down that path is through a lead lag study.

And so in our submission the 13 percent is appropriate, because there is no evidence of an alternative percentage in this matter.

I would like to talk a little bit about the monthly billing issue.  And just as the Panel is aware, NPEI shifted the residential and GS less than 50 class to monthly billing in May 2010.  So that is approximately two years after the merger between Penwest and Niagara Falls Hydro.  That was prior to the last cost of service application. 

And NPEI confirmed that the impact of monthly versus bimonthly billing was one of the factors that impacts the cash flow, or would impact a lead lag, for that matter. But there are other factors.

Ms. Wilson confirmed that cost of power has increased more than 30 percent since the last cost of service application, or approximately, in real dollars, 35 million a year or pretty close to 3 million a month on average.  So there is a significant increase in demand on the utility's throughput as a result of cost of power.  And those cost of power increases have been outstripping any increase realized through the IRM proceeding. 

So essentially the utilities are having to manage -- or get somewhat squeezed as they go -- the longer they go through the IRM proceeding. 

And with respect to the issues around the cost of power, we have no information that would say the trend of cost of power outstripping the rate increase is going to change.  And so we think that the issue will continue into the future, in that cost of power will continue to increase at a faster rate than the distribution rates.

During the cross-examination, Ms. Wilson acknowledged that the benefit obtained by switching to monthly billing was more than offset by the impact of the increase in the cost of power.  In addition -- and this is where I think we depart -- the intervenors would like us to focus solely on that issue as a basis to change. 

We say that you would have to look at some of the other factors, and one of the issues was the loss of the -- what I would call a cash float associated with the water billing; that is no longer there.  So there is no ability to use the cash that was there to manage your cash flow. 

Also there is the issue of account 1576, and we would note that NPEI has taken on three tranches of $10 million of debt each year. 

Ms. Wilson confirmed also that that was -- that debt was used for operating its business.  I think, on the issue on account 1576, Member Duff's question to Ms. Wilson confirms the related nature of several of these issues, in that the -- there is a recognition there is an impact on cash flow by having to pay out 6.9 million over two years.

However, that was balanced against what was going on with some of the other accounts.  That in it -- that account by itself had a significant detrimental impact on cash, on cash.  However, we were able to manage that within the context of everything else that is occurring within the utility.

So again, when you look at that specific element, we are managing within the current framework that is provided to the utility.  If those other variance accounts weren't available for -- to offset that variance account, the evidence and conclusions may be the same.  They may be quite different.  But again, that's a hypothetical.  That is not what the Board is presented with.

So I think if we look at some of the other Board decisions on working capital and monthly billing, we would note there is at least two cases, with Hydro Hawkesbury and Fort Frances where monthly billing utilities were permitted the 13 percent working capital allowance.

So it's not that that issue in and of itself is determinative of the appropriate working capital allowance.

The witnesses were also asked about the use of benchmarking and why it wasn't used for working capital.  And Ms. Wilson admitted and acknowledged they used benchmarking for OM&A and certain other aspects, but she cautioned about reading too much into benchmarking data without having a proper understanding of the very detailed information that is behind that.  So you have to be careful about drawing any conclusions about whether it is appropriate or inappropriate.

So where the utility -- if you are looking at other utilities and saying, as the intervenors took them to a survey of utilities that have filed the lag and said their numbers are below 13 percent, those should be applicable to you, well, and Ms. Wilson was saying, no, she couldn't agree with that statement, because she didn't have the ability to make a detailed comparison.

And I think this is consistent with where the Board has gone on the consideration of these issues.  And if we look at -- and it is Board proceeding EB-2013-0147 and 2014-0155 -- the Board stated, and I will quote:

"The Board finds that using a consistent WCA default in cases where lead lag studies have not been conducted to be a better approach to attempting to use simplified methods to derive utility-specific WCA value for each case from other lead lag studies which may  not reflect the unique circumstances of such utility."

So the Board is quite aware at that point that you just can't transfer one lead lag study from a utility to another utility unless you have evidence that they are basically the same utility in respect of the elements of a lead lag study.

The Board then went on to state:

"The Board finds that there is no compelling evidence this case..."

And it's the case references I mentioned before:

"...to suggest that a WCA value other than the default 13 percent was more appropriate and therefore confirms its earlier finding that KWHI's proposed 13 percent is acceptable."

We are of the view that is entirely applicable in the present circumstances.  There is no evidence or reason or policy for the Board to depart from their guideline.  While the intervenors would like the Board to consider one element in isolation, we don't feel that's appropriate, and we don't feel that the switch to monthly billing warrants a departure from the Board's practice.

While that may directionally have an impact to improve monthly billing, that's only one element of the equation.  And as we have noted, there are several other elements.

And also, the one other issue in this is the intervenors are relying on the fact that the 13 percent is the proper starting point.  It may not be the proper starting point for an adjustment.  It might be 14, it might be 12 and a half, and this is why you would need evidence on the specific utility.

And the lack of evidence is fatal, in our submission, to the intervenors' position.

Those are my comments and submissions in respect of the working capital and on rate design.  If you have any questions, I am happy to answer them.

MS. DUFF:  Just a moment.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. DUFF:  I did have one question, thank you.

Regarding the bill impact of the 65/35 split, the Board policy has used this 10 percent bill impact threshold, at which point usually would trigger a rate mitigation strategy or plan --


MR. STOLL:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  -- over two, three years.  I didn't hear that as part of your argument in-chief.  I just wanted to know if that is something that you had considered, or...

MR. STOLL:  Well, I think the comments were basically rate mitigation we didn't feel was necessary because the potential for the more than 10 percent was to such a small proportion of one rate class, and normally you -- the Board policy has been taken to look at a broader impact across the rate class rather than looking at one sliver and then looking at mitigation only on that sliver.

MS. LONG:  So is the answer to that that it has not been considered?  If I do the math it looks like it is, what, 3,500 customers?  Is that 7.5 percent?

MR. STOLL:  I was going to say at most 3,500, but, yeah, it's probably technically slightly less than that, given the potential for -- it's a 9.5 percent at the 250, so somewhere under that, but -- so it's a good estimation or approximation.  So 35 out of the 47,000 customers.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So there has been no consideration of rate mitigation for those customers?

MR. STOLL:  No.  I think the difficulty would be in how you would apply mitigation to part of a rate class.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  We had no further questions, Mr. Stoll.  Thank you for your submissions today.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Wilson, Mr. Blythin, Mr. Wilkie, thank you for your attendance today.  And we will await the submissions from the intervenors.  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:07 p.m. 
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